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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA Case No. 08-80013-Civ-Marra/Johnson



GLOBAL PATENT HOLDINGS, LLC, Plaintiff, versus PANTHERS BRHC L.L.C. d.b.a. THE BOCA RATON RESORT & CLUB, Defendant.



MOTION TO DISMISS COMPLAINT, WITH INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM OF LAW Defendant Panthers BRHC L.L.C. (“Boca Resort”) moves to dismiss the complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. This case is controlled by the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals decision in BMC Resources, Inc. v. Paymentech, L.P., 498 F.3d 1373 (Fed. Cir. 2007), requiring dismissal of the complaint for failure to state a legally cognizable claim of patent infringement. INTRODUCTION The patented process in this case was invented in 1991, before the Internet as we know it today existed. Now the Plaintiff, a fifth-generation assignee of the patent, claims the patent entitles it to millions of dollars in royalties for the ubiquitous practice of a consumer using the 1



Internet to view pictures on a company’s website. Plaintiff claims Boca Resort infringes its 1



Entities like the Plaintiff that do not create inventions, manufacture products, or provide services, but rather exist to enforce patents they acquire, have earned the name “patent troll.” See Raymond P. Niro,



(Footnote continued on following page)
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patent because its website (www.bocaresort.com) includes audio/visual and graphical presentations, such as pictures in JPEG format, which Internet users can see when they access Boca Resort’s home page. The patent is U.S. Patent No. 5,253,341 (the “’341 patent”). This type of patent is commonly referred to as a method or process patent, distinct from a product patent or a design patent. As it must, Boca Resort assumes the truth of these allegations solely for the purposes of this motion to dismiss. Plaintiff has not claimed that Boca Resort, or the unnamed “others” referred to in the complaint, have directly infringed its patent in violation of section 271(a) of Title 35 of the United States Code. Instead, Plaintiff alleges Boca Resort has induced others, such as its website users (e.g., potential customers visiting Boca Resort’s website), to infringe its patent in violation of section 271(b), (Complaint ¶ 9), and has contributed to others’ infringement in violation of section 271(c), (Complaint ¶ 10).



Who is Really Undermining the Patent System – Patent Trolls or Congress?, 6 J. MARSHALL REV. INTELL. PROP. L. 185 (2007). “Troll” is a neologism that reflects the public’s hostility toward a business that does not seek shelter for its technology under the laws intended to protect it but rather uses the legal process as an offensive tactic to demand license fees under threat of litigation because it can (or thinks it can). Plaintiff here seeks royalties not only from Boca Resort in this case but also from a virtual who’s who of American companies in three other cases: ADT Security Services, Inc., AutoNation, Inc., MovieTickets.com, Inc., Ocwen Financial Corp., and others (U.S. Dist. Ct. S.D. Fla. Case No. 9:07-cv81149-KAM); CDW Corporation and Motorola, Inc. (U.S. Dist. Ct. N.D. Ill. Case No. 1:07-cv-04476); Kraft Foods, Inc., Peapod, Inc., Caterpillar, Inc., OfficeMax, Inc., The Green Bay Packers, Inc., Orbitz Worldwide, Inc., and others (U.S. Dist. Ct. N.D. Ill. Case No. 1:00-cv-04623). The complaints in these cases are substantively identical.
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As the recent precedent of BMC Resources makes clear, the complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted for three distinct reasons: (1) Direct Infringement: The Plaintiff has not alleged and cannot claim that Boca Resort directly infringes its patent, because direct infringement requires a defendant to perform all, not just some, steps of the patented process. (2) Active Inducement of Infringement: Because there is no claim of direct infringement, Boca Resort cannot be held liable indirectly for inducing the acts of the Internet users who access its website, as active inducement of infringement requires direct infringement as its predicate. (3) Contributory Infringement: Boca Resort cannot be held liable for contributory infringement because a claim for contributory infringement requires the sale or offer to sell a product, which is not involved here. Accordingly, the complaint fails to state any claim upon which relief can be granted against Boca Resort and it must be dismissed. ARGUMENT Section 271 of Title 35 of the United States Code (the Patent Act) identifies three ways in which a patent can be infringed: direct infringement, § 271(a); active inducement of infringement, § 271(b); and contributory infringement, § 271(c). Active inducement of infringement and contributory infringement are commonly referred to as indirect infringement. The allegations on the face of the complaint show there is neither direct nor indirect infringement, and therefore the complaint must be dismissed.
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Direct Infringement (§ 271(a))



Section 271(a) defines direct infringement of a patent as follows: (a) Except as otherwise provided in this title, whoever without authority makes, uses, offers to sell, or sells any patented invention, within the United States or imports into the United States any patented invention during the term of the patent therefor, infringes the patent. 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). It is well established law that direct infringement of a method patent requires the defendant to perform each and every step of the patented claim. Joy Techs., Inc. v. Flakt, Inc., 6 F.3d 770, 773 (Fed. Cir. 1993). In the recent case of BMC Resources, the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit reaffirmed existing law and rejected the patent plaintiffs bar’s attempt to extend liability for direct infringement to cases involving “joint infringement by multiple parties of a single claim.” BMC Resources, 498 F.3d at 1378. The principles in BMC Resources are dispositive of the Plaintiff’s case, as the allegations of the complaint show that Boca Resort does not perform every step of the patented process. The plaintiff in BMC Resources held a patent for a method of processing debit transactions without a personal identification number. Id. at 1375. The method involves a customer using his or her touch-tone telephone keypad to perform banking transactions. Id. An interactive voice response unit prompts the caller. Id. Using the telephone, the customer keys in information that is relayed to a debit network and then to a banking or financial institution. Id. The alleged infringer in BMC Resources was a payment processor that received customer payment information from merchants and routed it to the debit network, which routed it to the financial institution for authorization. Id. Once the transaction was authorized, the financial institution relayed such information back to the defendant payment processor, which in turn relayed it to the merchant and ultimately to the customer. Id. at 1375-76.
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The court in BMC Resources held that the defendant payment processor could not be held liable for direct infringement, because it performed only some steps of the patented method. Id. at 1378-80. The claim, as drafted, featured the combined action of several participants, id. at 1375, and there was no evidence that the defendant controlled or directed the acts of the other participants, id. at 1382. Reaffirming the existing law requiring that the defendant perform each and every step of the patented process, the court rejected the theory that the defendant could be held liable as a joint infringer. Id. at 1380. The court acknowledged the plaintiff’s concern that a claim in this format is difficult to protect but attributed that weakness to the drafting of the claim and refused to “restructure the claim or the standards for joint infringement to remedy [the] ill-conceived claims.” Id. at 1381. BMC Resources is on all fours with and controls this case. Here, the Plaintiff complains that infringement occurs when Internet users ― members of the general public, travel agents, prospective travelers, and club members, for example ― use computers to view pictures such as JPEG images on the Boca Resort website at www.bocaresort.com. These Internet users perform some of the steps of the patented process, while Boca Resort by its website allegedly performs other steps. (Complaint ¶¶ 8, 9, and 12.) The Plaintiff does not expressly claim that this constitutes direct infringement in violation of § 271(a), but nonetheless attempts to hold Boca Resort liable under the very theory of direct infringement liability rejected in BMC Resources. Like the claim in BMC Resources, the claim here requires the combined actions of more than one participant, and there is no allegation that Boca Resort directs or controls Internet users and the general public (which would not be believable even if alleged).



5



Case 9:08-cv-80013-KAM



Document 7-1



Entered on FLSD Docket 01/28/2008



Page 6 of 11



2



A simple reading of the ’341 patent, attached to this motion as Exhibit A, reveals the deficiency of the Plaintiff’s case. Claim 17 of the patent provides the steps as follows: A method for downloading responsive data from a remote server comprising the following steps: (a) identifying a query via a data input means and inputting said query to remote query and data retrieval means; (b) transmitting said query from said remote query and data retrieval means to said remote server via an input/output means; (c) receiving a compressed or non-compressed response to said query at said remote query and data retrieval means from said remote server via said input/output means; (d) displaying a presentation corresponding to said compressed or noncompressed response on output means; (e) wherein said compressed or non-compressed response is compressed prior to receipt at said remote query and data retrieval means, and wherein said compressed response is decompressed at said remote query and data retrieval means using an asymmetric decompression technique corresponding to an inverse operation of the technique used to compress said compressed or non-compressed response. (Exhibit A at p. A-16.) It takes no technical knowledge to understand that the method claimed by the ’341 patent, and more importantly alleged in the complaint, requires a user to input a query (step (a)), in response to which a “remote server” provides a response. In 1991, when the method was invented, the technology over which the inventors contemplated transmitting the



2



The contents of a document upon which a plaintiff relies for its complaint are appropriately considered on a motion to dismiss the complaint, even if the plaintiff fails to attach the document to its complaint. Brooks v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Fla., 116 F.3d 1364, 1369 (11th Cir. 1997) (per curiam); Jackson v. Bellsouth Telecomms., Inc., 181 F.Supp.2d 1345, 1354 (S.D. Fla. 2001). The patent in this case includes a certification issued on July 24, 2007, upon reexamination of the patent, as a result of which all of the 16 original claims were cancelled and Claim 17, the subject of this complaint, was added.
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data consisted of a television cable, a telephone modem, or an FM radio signal. (Exhibit A at p. A-12; p. A-7, col. 1, ll. 42-46.) As Plaintiff seeks to apply the patented claim today, the contemplated technology is the Internet; the user is the Internet user (those who access Boca Resort’s website) and the remote server presumably is the Boca Resort website, which displays 3



pictures in JPEG format. Claim 17 of the patent is drafted so as to require a user at an end user station (e.g., computer monitor) connected to the Internet to download responsive data from Boca Resort’s home page on a remote server. By necessity, as the claim was drafted, there are at least two actors involved: the user, commonly called the “client,” and the operator of the remote server. (There are likely intermediate actors involved as well, such as an Internet service provider and the operator of the Internet.) By the Plaintiff’s own admission in its complaint, no one party performs all steps of the method and therefore legally there can be no direct infringement in this case. While the manner in which the claim was drafted may make its enforcement difficult, just like the patent in BMC Resources, the Court here, like the Federal Circuit Court of Appeals in BMC Resources, should be hesitant to restructure the claim or relax the applicable legal standards to make it enforceable. In 1991, the ’341 patent method was invented in the context of technology other than the Internet, which did not then exist in a commercially useable format. Only through the efforts of a “troll” is it being improperly wedged into the current world of the Internet. Any other result would lead to absurdities. By conservative industry estimates, millions of homepages accessible by the general public contain JPEG images. Under Plaintiff’s legal theory, every time any person anywhere views a JPEG image over the Internet, the ’341 patent is



3



Boca Resort does not admit that the acts alleged in the complaint are what is described in Claim 17 of the ’341 patent, but assumes in Plaintiff's favor that they are, solely for purposes of this motion.



7



Case 9:08-cv-80013-KAM



Document 7-1



Entered on FLSD Docket 01/28/2008



Page 8 of 11



infringed. Indeed, this Court’s website at www.sdfl.uscourts.gov features a picture of the West Palm Beach courthouse and others displayed in JPEG format. If the Plaintiff’s claim were accepted, this Court’s website infringes on the patent every time an Internet user accesses the website. B.



Active Inducement of Infringement (§ 271(b))



Section 271(b) imposes liability for infringement on a defendant indirectly, or vicariously, for the infringement of others as follows: (b) Whoever actively induces infringement of a patent shall be liable as an infringer. 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). The court in BMC Resources also addressed the issue of whether the payment processor, as one actor among several, could be held liable under a theory of active inducement of infringement and concluded that it could not. Active inducement of infringement requires a predicate finding of direct infringement. BMC Resources, 498 F.3d at 1380; Dynacore Holdings Corp. v. U.S. Philips Corp., 363 F.3d 1263, 1272 (Fed. Cir. 2004); RF Delaware, Inc. v. Pacific Keystone Technols., Inc., 326 F.3d 1255, 1268 (Fed. Cir. 2003). In other words, a defendant cannot be held vicariously (indirectly) liable for the infringement of another party when the other party has not infringed. For the same reasoning applied in BMC Resources, Boca Resort cannot be held liable for active inducement of another’s infringement because the Plaintiff has not pleaded and cannot plead the predicate, namely, direct infringement.
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Contributory Infringement (§ 271(c))



Section 271(c) imposes liability for contributory infringement when a party sells, or offers to sell, a component for use in a patented product or process, as follows: (c) Whoever offers to sell or sells within the United States or imports into the United States a component of a patented machine, manufacture, combination or composition, or a material or apparatus for use in practicing a patented process, constituting a material part of the invention, knowing the same to be especially made or especially adapted for use in an infringement of such patent, and not a staple article or commodity of commerce suitable for substantial noninfringing use, shall be liable as a contributory infringer. 35 U.S.C. § 271(c). In contrast to section 271(a), section 271(c) does not impose liability for “use” but rather for an “offer to sell” or for sale of a product, such as a component, material, or apparatus. See PharmaStem Therapeutics, Inc. v. ViaCell, Inc., 491 F.3d 1342, 1358-59 (Fed. Cir. 2007) (sale of a product necessary for liability under section 271(c) as contributory infringer). Here, the complaint does not allege the sale of or offer to sell a product, and contributory infringement therefore is not available as a theory of liability. In addition, contributory infringement, like active inducement of infringement, requires direct infringement as its predicate. Aro Mfg. Co. v. Convertible Top Replacement Co., 365 U.S. 336, 341-42 (1961); Refac Int’l Ltd. v. IBM, 798 F.2d 459 460 (Fed. Cir. 1986). For both of these reasons, Plaintiff has not stated a claim of contributory infringement.
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CONCLUSION The complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, and Boca Resort respectfully requests that the Court dismiss the complaint with prejudice. Boca Resort reserves its right to seek an award of costs and attorneys’ fees or to invoke the Court’s jurisdiction for any other remedy available at law or in equity. Date: January 28, 2008



S/ J. Douglas Baldridge J. Douglas Baldridge (Florida Bar No. 0708070) Caroline Petro Gately VENABLE LLP 575 Seventh Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20004-1601 (202) 344-4744 phone (202) 344-8300 fax S/ Benedict P. Kuehne Benedict P. Kuehne (Florida Bar No. 233293) Susan Dmitrovsky (Florida Bar No. 0073296) Law Office of Benedict P. Kuehne, P.A. Bank of America Tower 100 Southeast Second Street, Suite 3550 Miami, FL 33131-2154 (305) 789-5989 phone (305) 789-5987 fax Counsel for Panthers BRHC L.L.C.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE I CERTIFY on January 28, 2008, I electronically filed the foregoing document with the Clerk of the Court as required by the CM/ECF Administrative Procedures. I also certify the foregoing document is being served this day on all counsel of record identified on the service list below in the manner specified, either via transmission of Notices of Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF or in another authorized manner for those counsel or parties not authorized to receive electronically Notices of Electronic Filing. By CM/ECF Notice of Electronic Filing Raymond P. Niro Dean D. Niro Arthur A. Gasey Paul C. Gibbons Douglas M. Hall Niro, Scavone, Haller & Niro 181 West Madison, Suite 4600 Chicago, IL 60602-4515 Adam G. Heffner 1900 Northwest Corporate Blvd., Suite 301W Boca Raton, FL 33431



S/ Benedict P. Kuehne Benedict P. Kuehne
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